
'We only want our rights and freedom" 
The Pilbara pastoral workers strike, 1946-1949 

Anne Scrimgeou~ 

On 1 May 1946 Aboriginal workers on Pilbara sheep and cattle stations 
staged a 'sit-down' strike for better wages and conditions. Over the 
following months people began moving away from stations to form two 
new independent communities. Why did the 'sit-down' strike become a 
walk-off? This article examines the conditions "f Aboriginal labour in thE' 
Pilbara in the years leading up to the strike to develop an understanding 
of how labour conditions influence t he form of industrial action available 
to workers. It also examines the extent to which the establishment 
of independent communities was a means of achieving better labour 
conditions on stations, and the extent to which autonomy itself became 
the strikers' goal. 

In 1946 several hundred Aboriginal people in Western Australia's PH­
bara region left sheep and cattle stations and E!stablished self-support ing 

communities near the towns of Marble Bar and Port Hedland. Historical 
accounts of these events identify two distinct objectives of the action 

taken. On the one hand was the clearly artil:ulated demand for higher 
wages and improved conditions on stations to which stri kers intended 

to return; on the other was the goal of perm.anently leaving stations to 
establish independent communities. Some historians have stressed the 

relative importance of one of these objectives over the other. Heather 
Goodall, for exa mple, notes the wide interest the strike has attracted as 
working-class industrial action but suggests th.at the strikers' 'demands 

for land and independence were less often noticed'.] Michael Hess claims 

on the other hand that the fortunes of the self-supporting commun­
ities have tended to overshadow the significance of the strike as action 
for improved wages and conditions, which he describes as 'a most 

Sign ificant event in Australian labour history'.3 Others simply note the 
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existence of both economic and non-economic objectives. Writing from 
the perspective of the early 1970s, Peu!r Biskup saw the strikers' non­
economic demands as a fight ' for human dignity, for an aboriginal version 
of assimilation'.4 L10yd Davies, meanwhiJe, has referred to 'the dream of 
setting up Aboriginal co-operatives to live off the land and manage their 
own affairs' as a continuing objective when the strike ended.s 

This article builds on these accounts through a close examination of 
archival and oral history sources to provide a clearer understanding 
of the Pilbara st rike, particularly in terms of its dual objectives. While 

Hess and Davies have discussed legislative restrictions on the freedom 
of Aboriginal labour in Western Australia, I begin by examining labour 
conditions at the level of employer-employee relations on Pilbara stations 
before the strike. Understanding the nature of labour relations not only 
helps to explain what motivated the strike, but also provides insights 
into the impact of labour conditions on the form of action that Aboriginal 
people took. 

Significant studies of the nature of Aboriginal station labour include 
Ann McGrath 's work on Aboriginal cattle workers in the north of the 
Northern Territory and eastern Kimberley, and Dawn May's research into 
the history of Aboriginal labour on Queensland cattle stations .' While 
McGrath emphasises the degree of cooperation and accommodation 
involved in Aboriginal relationships with stations, other scholars identify 
the degree to which Aboriginal station labour was unfree. Raymond 
Evans draws parallels with slavery, for example, while Claire WiIliams 
describes Aboriginal station labour as 'Cl variant or derivation of slavery' 
which she call s 'colonised labour',' Thalia Anthony likens pastoral labour 
relationships to feudalism rather than slavery. She argues that feudal 
principles served both as 'a legal device to enable Crown ownership of land 
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and a means of exploiting the predominant Aboriginal population and 
their land attachment'. ' While not attempting to classify Pilbara station 
labour in such terms, this article builds on the work of these scholars 
by drawing on and drawing into the discussion Tim Rowse's analys is of 
the role of rationing in the colonisation of CEmtral Australia, as well as 
more recent work on rationing by Amanda Nettelbeckand Rohert Foster.9 

Analysis of the relationship between conditions of Aboriginal labour and 
Aboriginal action in response to these conditions not only furthers our 
understanding of the wide range of Aboriginal responses to colonisation, 
hut also provides an insight into the relationsh:ip between forms oflabour, 
both free and unfree, and the means available to workers to address their 
concerns. 

Minoru Hokari's research into the objectives of the Gurindji people 
when they staged a walk-off from Wave Hill Station in the Northern 
Territory two decades after the Pilbara strike serves as an important 

reference point for this article. Hokariargues that action taken byGurindji 
people was never principally a strike, but rather that their purpose was 
'to physically leave European authority' in order 'to regain autonomy 
and sovereignty over their country, to establish their own community, 
and to run the cattle station by and for themselves'.lo His resea rch raises 
the question of whether the Pilbara strike should be understood in these 
terms. 

Pilbara Aboriginal people who took part in the strike included the 
Ngarla, Nyamal, and Kariyarra (Ngarluma) tra.ditional ow ners of the Port 
Hedlandand Marble Bar area, as well Nyangumarta, Mangarla, Warn man, 
and Western Desert speakers who had migra ted into the pastoral area 
from the desert region to the east and north . As Nyangumarta has become 
established as a lingua franca, people in the Pilbara refer to themselves as 
marrngu, the Nyangumarta word for person, and I use this term in this 
article. I use the term 'pastoralists' to refer to both station owners and 

managers . 
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Colonial governance through rationing 

The relationship between Aboriginal people and pastoralists in the Pilbara 
was part of a system of governance that h ad developed throughout Austra­
lia, based on the issuing of rations, In the early decades of the twentieth 
century, rationing was a key component of Aboriginal policy, implemented 
in the wake of colonial violence as an alternative to conflict over land use 
and the killing of stock by Aboriginal people. As Tim Rowse writes, 'rations 
"purchased" acquiescence to a new, imposed social order',lI Comparing 
rationing practices in the frontier regions of Australia and north-west 
Canada, Amanda Nettelbeck and Robert Foster argue that rationing was 'an 
effective means of Aboriginal pacification, surveillance, and reward' which 
became an institutionalised tool of governance on the Australian frontierY 
Undertaken initially 'as an instrument of command'! l by police officers. 
government officials and on church missions, rationing became outsourced 
to station management in Western Australia's pastoral areas by the end of 
the nineteenth century. 14 Such an arrangement suited government as a cheap 
and effective way to maintain control over large Aboriginal populations in 
the north, freeing taxpayers from the cost of rations and the burden of 
establishing government institutions and subsidising church missions, 

Rationing also served the interests of pastoralists by settling the 
Aboriginal owners of country taken up by pastoral leases in 'native camps' 
located d ose to station homesteads. In this way, pastoralists restricted 
Aboriginal people's use of the land. Pilbara pastoralist Edward Holthouse 
made thiS explicit when he described labour relationships on Pilbara 
stations as 'emerging from the days of :dave trad ing to one of control of 
nomadic natives who otherwise would bE~ wandering at large on these large 
pastoral properties',ls Rationing by stations effectively kept the Aboriginal 
population away from towns and other centres of settler population, as 
Nettelbeck and Foster argue, while at the same time concentrating people 
in camps located dose to station homesteads. and away from wells, 
waterholes and stock,16 

Distributing rations on stations further served the interests of pasto­
ralists by creating a pool of resident Aboriginal labour. That pastoralists 
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should require labour from the recipient!: of rations was perfectly 
consistent with the practices of Aboriginal g,:)vernance under protection 

policies. Rowse notes the tension between a belief in the positive effects 

of rationing for conciliation, pacification and control on the one hand, 
and on the other the widely-held concern 'that rationing degraded people, 

morally and culturally, and perverted their progress towards citizenship'. 11 

This view was also expressed by missionaries, who believed that rationing 
without requiring labour in return was 'totally destructive for the spirit'.16 
Recipients of rations in government institutions and church miss ions 

were, as a result of this belief, required to undertake some form of work, 
in part to reduce the running costs of institutions, but principally 'as a 
form of redemption' to offset rationing's pau.perising effects. 19 Similarly, 

pastoralists portrayed their relationship with Aboriginal station residents 
as principally a rationing relationship, in return for which recipients were 

required to undertake some form of labour on request. 

The relationship between pastoralists and Aboriginal people extended 
beyond that of distributer and recipient of rations, however. Unlike 

government institutions and missions, Pilbua stations operated as com­
mercial enterprises which depended on Aboriginal labour. In the decades 

leading up to the strike, tension existed between understandings of the 
pastoralists' role as employers of Aboriginal labour, and the role they 
undertook on the government's behalf in maintaining colonial governance 
through rationing. The Western Australian Department of Native Affairs 

grappled with the dual natu.re of the pastoralists' relationship with 
Aboriginal people, creating legislative and administrative mechanisms 

to facilitate the role they played in colonial governance, while at the 
same time attempting to police their use of Aboriginal labour though a 

system of employment permits. Departmental attempts to regulate and 
formalise the relationship were resented and resisted by pastoralists, who 
consistently responded to government intervention in their relationship 

with Indigenous people by threatening to withdraw from their role as 

distributers of rations, and to throw onto the taxpayer the burden of 
caring for people considered incapable of car ing for themselves. Despite 
their dependence on Aboriginal labour, pasto:ralists underplayed its value, 

casting themselves as carers rather than as employers, and portraying 
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Aboriginal people as dependents, tolerated and rationed as the original 

owners of station country. 
An illustration of pastoralists' view of their relationship with Aboriginal 

labour ca n be found in statements made in 1939 by the manager of Mulyie 
Station, on the Pilbara's De Grey River, when he was asked by the Native 

Affairs Department to pay the travelling <:ost s to Port Hedland for medical 
treatment of a marrngu woman, WaterlHy. The travelling medical inspector 

claimed that Waterlily worked as a domestic servant at Mulyie, as he 
had seen her cleaning shoes and delivering hot water at the homestead. 

The manager, however, denied that Wat1erlily was an employee, arguing 
that she was 'a good old thing', who would offer to help out in the house 

whenever she was at the station. 'She looks on this as home' he wrote, 'and 
likes to do a little now and then but is a, free agent and comes and goes 
as she pleases. What better can she have - food, clothing and a home'. 

This, he believed, was 't he ideal help that the country can give the native'. 

His resentment at the department's insistence that he pay Waterlily's 
train fare was grounded, in Rowse's terms, ' in the specific condition in 

which Aborigines became visible to [him}, as recipients of rations and as 
occasional workers'. 'lO 'If the Department insists on us paying her train 
fares and other expenses', the manager wrote to the company owners of 
the station, 'please ask them to provide for her and I'll see she does no 

work for us although she will be disappointed if she is told to go back to 
camp'. Listing other residents who were 'fed and clothed' at Mulyie, he 
wrote that he 'would like something dernnite from the department as to 

what they propose to do for these peop]e if they do not approve of the 
treatment they are gett ing at Mu!yie'.21 

Waterlily seems to have understood her relationship with station 
management as involving an obligation t o provide some labour in return 
for 'food, clothing and a home'. Although rations are usually understood 

to have been a form payment for work undertaken by Aboriginal people, a 

more accurate understanding of labour T'elations on stat ions may be that 
labour was an obligation imposed by the rationing relationship.22 

The two-fold nature of the relationship between pastoralists and 

Aboriginal people can be found in the fact that while they saw their role 
principally in terms of the rationing relationship, pastoralists also paid a 
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small wage to some Aboriginal workers. WhilE~ Waterlily and other casual 
workers like her would have neither expected nor received any payment for 

the work they did, other workers - usually men rather than women - did 
receive a small wage of between 10/- and £1/10 per week.2l The payment 

of wages at these rates did not undermine the rationing relationship, as 

marrngu who received wages remained dependent on stations for rations, 

a place of residence and access to country. Moreover, because deductions 
could be made from wages to pay for clothing and other items, marrngu 

sometimes found themselves bound to stations through debt. According 

to Sam Coppin, some workers found themselves in debt to stations 'all year 
round. Never get off the debt, all the time. That's the way keep us there all 

the time. Man want to go away, he get the police, fetch him back, because 
you owe too much to the station'.241n 1952 the mining cooperative set up 

by marrngu follOWing the strike paid£50 to Corunna Downs Station to free 
workers from their debt to the station store. 2~ 

Intimidation and coercion 

Rationing as a means of colonial governance was a feature of Aboriginal 
administration formulated on an assumption that Aboriginal people were 

incapable of adjusting to the modern world and needed to be controlled 
for their own protection. In more southern re:gions of Western Australia, 

the restrictive legislation of the Native Administration Act, frequently 
admin istered by the police, was the pr incipal instrument of the policy of 
'protect ion' in the 1930s and 1940s. In the pastoral regions of the north, 

a somewhat different system of controls exist ed, centered on pastoraHst 

control over Aboriginal access to rations and country, and supported by 
police action. 'On control issues', McGrath wr ites, 'settlers and police 
cooperated closely'. 26 

Along with rations , residence on stations provided Aboriginal people 

with access to country. Rations were supplemented by bush food obtained 
in the vicinity of the homestead on weekends, while the seasonal nature of 

the work freed workers to maintain connection with country and kin away 
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from their station of residence during the wet season, and to maintain 
their religious and ceremonial life, But Aboriginal use of the land was 
always at the discretion of the pastoralists, who maintained control 
over access through rationing and police pressure, In 1943, for example, 
a policeman moved about 30 Aborigin;)l people from a Pilbara pastoral 
lease follOWing complaints by the manager that 'they were starting to 
make a nuisance of themselves, and that while they remained there he 
could get no good out of his own Station Natives',21 

Mechanisms of control over Aboriginal people in the Pilbara included 
agreement between pastoralists not to employ Aboriginal workers from 
other stations, This was 'an unwritten law', according to Holthouse, that 
was 'rigidly enforced and assisted by the police'.18 In 1944, after several 
stations complained that workers had failed to return from a holiday, the 
local policeman moved among marrngu attending an initiation ceremony 
and saw that 'several parties of natives started for their homestations' 
when the proceedings were over.'" According to Pitpit (Billy Thomas), 'if 
anyone stayed away for longer than two weeks, they'd send the police 
out after us, and the police would hunt us back to work on the station',lO 
Marrngu who left stations where their labour was required were also 
forced to return by the police. 31 Kangkushot (Peter Coppin) recalled 
that 'those days, police and station owners work together. Anyone run 
way bang him in gaol, ring up the bos·s and say I got your boy in gaol. 
What about come and pick him up'Y During the strike marrngu cited 
this lack of freedom to move between stations as one of their principal 
grievances.J3 
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Marrngu have also identified as a cause of the strike the level of 
intimidation they suffered, and the constant fear of violence and im­
prisonment that kept them subservient, Intimidation and violence are 

features of colon ial situations in which a i;mall and widely d ispersed 

settler population is acutely aware of its vulnerability in the midst of a 
larger indigenous population. In the aftermath of colonial occupation, 

the need to remind indigenous people of settler capacity fOT violence 
was seen as essential for maintaining settler control. 34 The threat of 

physical violence was a constant presence for Pilbara Aboriginal people 

in the 1930s and 1940s. Physical punishment was used by Pilbara 
station managers, and their wives also used physical punishment when 
'breaking in' young domestic servants ,35 As late as the 1940s Aboriginal 

people could be arrested on minor charges and transported in chains, 
and as 'Protectors of Natives' were also the police, they received little 

legal protection, Aboriginal people were kep t fear ful through repeated 

displays of violence, The practice of killing dogs belonging to Aboriginal 
people, usually carried out by the police in response to complaints made 
bypastoralists. was central to this program of intimation , Dogculls were 

routinely carried out without warning in pre-dawn raids on marrngu 

camps. which, given the history of violence itn pastora l areas, must have 
been terrifying for the Aboriginal people :involved, These raids often 
seem to have had no other purpose than to create fear, In 1943, for 

example, a policeman on patrol found two young marrngu women alone 
at a remote station outcamp, presumably the sexual partners of the 

absent station worker who lived there, At dawn the follOWing morning. 
he 'revealed (his] identity to the gins, des:troyed their two dogs and 
moved on at 6 am',36 Monty Hale recalled a pre-dawn raid on his family's 

camp at the MoolyeUa tin field, near Marbil~ Bar. in the 1930s. 'We just 
sat down quietly', he wrote, 'and when thE~ police went back we cried 
for all those dogs' ,3? Through such violenc(!, settler society reasserted 

and restated its domination over Aborigin,al people, 'The possibility of 

violence' Rowse writes, 'underlay all transac:tions',:uJ 
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Marrngu later recalled the humiliation they suffered in their day­
to-day interactions with pastoralists and the police as a result of this 

intimidation. Pitpit remembered an occasion in Nullagine, for example, 
when a higgroup of people was singing: 

The policeman come along, 'what you fellas making all this noise? 
Can't you go to bed? Too much noise, I can't even sleep'. Well people 
can't help, can't put up for it, they just got to go away. They were 
frightened of the policeman, because they might go to jail. They 
were the boss for us. Always, you know, frightened of them. Treat 
us like animaL39 

Pitpit specifically identified the desire to break through the fear of 
violence and prosecution that kept them powerless and subservient as a 

reason for the strike: 

We got to give the people some righ1:, [and) they'll be ready for 
everything. That's what we're doing, because squatter always growl, 
growl, growl all the time ... We were re.ally frightened we might get 
a hiding or go in jail or something like that. 40 

Protection 

Marrngu were not entirely powerless in their relationship with pas­
toralists. Workers sometimes responded to unfair treatment by going 

bush at a time when their labour was needed. The manager of Bungalow 
Station was reluctant to shoot troublesome dogs during the shearing, 
fearing his workers would 'dear out ' and leave him short-handed, Once 

the shearing was over, however, he made a complaint to the police who 

killed the dogs in a dawn raid.~l Nevertheless, Aboriginal people had very 
little room to manoeuvre within the relationship; it was, as Hess claims, 
a matter of 'bargaining at the margins'. 4 ~ 

The Bungalow Station manager's decision to have dogs killed by the 
police, rather than killing them himself, suggests that the relationship 

was more complex than simply the e>:ercise of violent control and 
intimation. Snov.ry Jittermarra hinted at this when he talked about the 
police returning workers to their stations at the end of a holiday period. 
'Sometime we might (bel running late', he said, 
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well we see the policeman coming .,. All the boys there, how many 
people belong to the Noreena or Bonney Downs, he sort them out, 
... well we got to walk back to station . And squatter was happy, 'oh, 
you come back?' Never say anything.43 

Snowy's statement 'never say anything' suggest s that the collusion 

between pastoralists and the police was known but not explicitly ac­
knowledged. A different relationship. based on paternalism and loyalty, 

masked the use of police force and the threat of violence inherent in the 
relationship. Paradoxically, while pastoralists init iated police action 

against marrngu, they also offered protection from such action. According 
to John BucknaU, Monty Hale's family, ne wly arrived in the pastoral 

regions from the Great Sandy Desert, shifted! from the Moolyella tin field 
to Mount Edgar Station as a direct result of the killing of their dogs in 
a dawn raid.44 Without dogs it was more difficult to l ive by hunting. but 

their move to Mount Edgar was probably also motivated by the perception 

that station residence offered a degree of protection from violent acts of 

this nature. 
Marrngu were also kept fearful by the practice of child removal, and 

action taken by some pastoralists to prevent the removal of children 
served to reinforce the bond of protection and obligation that existed 
between marrngu and their bosses. In 1939 police complained that their 
attempt to remove three 'half-caste' girls from Warrawagine Station had 

been obstructed by the actions of the manager and his wife in sending 
the girls away when the Native Affairs officer arrived to collect them.43 

Nyirrarlpi (M aggie Ginger) remembers being sent into hiding by the 
manager of Muccan Station whenever the ,arrival of a doctor or police 

officer was imminent. When, as occasionally happened, police searched the 
area for children, the manager would lead tbem away from the children's 

hiding place, according to Nyirrarlpi.46 That all the children at Muccan 
were sent into hiding, not just those in dang<er of removal as 'half-castes', 

raises the question of whether pastoralists used the fear of child removal 
to continually re-establish marrngu dependence on stations as sites of 

protection from police action, and to reinforce a sense of obligation to 

pastoralists who acted in their defence. 
The persistent threat of violence, together with paternalist ic protection 

from violence, served to strengthen the bond. between Aboriginal workers 
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and management and foster in Aboriginal people a sense of loyalty to 
their station. According to McGrath 'the paternalistic relationship, with 
its elements of humanity and harshness, welded master and servant into 

a continuing contract with complex recipr.ocal obligations'." 

Sit-down strike 

The decision to conduct a strike grew out of discussions carried out be­
tween marrngu and a non-Aboriginal prospector and contractor, Don 

McLeod. Although his membership of th.e Australian Communist Party 

and previous political activities convinced authorities that the strike 
was instigated by McLeod, Aboriginal people insist that 'it was marrngu 
who started the strike, not him'.48 They' claim that marmgu had been 

wondering 'how we going to help ourself?'''9 and discussing their situation 

between themselves for years before Mdeod's involvement. Asked by 
marrngu what they could do to improv4~ their circumstances, McLeod 
recommended that they withhold their l.abour in a strike. He suggested 

1 May as a good day to strike, both for its symbolism and the fact that 
it coincided with the beginning of the shearing season, when Aboriginal 

labour was in greatest demand for the muster. It was hoped that a 
complete withdrawal of Aboriginallaboul(' at this crucial time of the year 

would severely affect operations and bring pastoralists to the negotiating 
table over their Aboriginal workers' demand for increased wages, better 
working conditions, and the right to choose a Protector to look after their 

welfare. 
Although it was claimed at the time, and. is still often claimed today, that 

800 Aboriginal people walked offPilbara stations on 1 May 1946, this first 
attempt at strike action was not a walk-()ff but a 'sit down'.50 Tt was also 
far more uncertain and tentative than its mythology suggests. Although 
many of the workers on stations across the eastern Pilbara and in Marble 

Bar did attempt or intend to take strik!! action that day by remaining 

in camp and refusing to work, mechanisms of control were brought into 
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play to end the strike almost before it began. On 29 April the manager 
of Warrawagine Station, a large station running both sheep and cattle, 
contacted Constable Gordon Marshall of Marble Bar to inform him that 
Aboriginal workers had given notice of their intention to strike. MarshaU 
immediately travelled to Warrawagine and successfully persuaded sheep 
musterers at the shearing shed at Pintunya (Sheep Camp) to return to 
work, before confronting striking cattle musterers near the homestead. 
'No force or threats of any kind were brought to bear', he wrote. 'However, 
I did warn them, that if anyone of them tried to make another stop work, 
they would get into serious bother'. One of the cattlemen, however, 
claimed that Marshall did use the threat of arrest, tipping chains from 
a bag onto the ground and asking 'You want this one?'. Learning from 
MarshaIl that the musterers at Pintunya had returned to work, the 
cattlemen also returned to their jobs.~ 1 

Over the follOWing days Marshall patrolled the district. tal king to 
Aboriginal workers at each station in the pr€!sence of the manager, and 
in every case was able to convince strikers to return to work or persuade 
those who were considering striking not to do so. 'Pastoralists were very 
thankful for this patrol', Marshal! wrote, '& I feel sure that it will have a 
good effect on the nativegenerally'.s2 Although Marshal l's report suggests 
that marrngu had been easily persuaded through friendly discussion. it is 
likely that similar threats were used to those he successfully employed at 
Warrawagine. As marrngu on each station were persuaded not to st rike, 
Marshall was able truthfully to inform those at succeeding stations that 
the strike had collapsed. On these isolated stations, workers had no way 
of ascertaining whether or not others were striking. The follOWing month 
Marshall was able to report that 'the native strike affair is fairly well 
settled in this district'.il 

Aboriginal workers on stations in the Port Hed land district also took 
strike action on or around 1 May. People on Strelley and De Grey Stations 
returned to work after their demand for an increase of 5/· per week 
was granted for the duration of the shearing in li eu of the usual 'bonus' 
of an issue of clothing and blankets given at the end of the shearing. 
At De Grey, the increase was granted to only some of the workers, who 
forfeited their pay increase when they realised that others were worse off 
in having to purchase clothes and blankets. At Mundabullangana Station, 
the manager responded to the strike by calling on Police Constable Les 
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Fletcher of Port Hedland to remove from the station those he considered 
'troublemakers', as well as non-working station residents, including old 
people and children, At Indee Station, the manager sacked and evicted 
all his Aboriginal workers and their families, Constable Fletcher and 
a Native Affairs officer carried out a patrol to stations throughout the 
district and 'warned the natives not to cease work'.s.. They too were able to 
report that they had successfully checked strike action and that shearing 
was progressing normally. 

After the poor success of this initial action, a meeting was planned for 
2S May to be attended by delegates from each station, in order, McLeod 
said, 'to clarify reports of strike progress and straighten out tangled 
versions',3S However, before this meeting could be held, strike organisers 
Clancy McKenna and Dooley Binbin were arrested and charged with a 
breach of State legislation which made it illegal to 'entice or persuade a 
native to leave any lawful service', Arrested. on 8 and 9 May, they incurred 
three-month prison sentences with hard labour but received a remission 
of their sentences after McLeod was convicted on 21 June on three counts 
of 'enticement', ~ 

From 'sit-down' to 'walk-off' 

Marrngu learnt important lessons from the failures of 1 May. The sit­
down strike had been defeated by the very mechanisms of control that 
had kept Aboriginal labour subservient, Isolated station communities 
had found it impossible to resist the combined pressure of the appeal of 
pastoralists to whom they were bound in webs of obligation, and police 
intimidation with its threat of chains and imprisonment. 

In order to alter the conditions under which they lived, the fust thing 
that Aboriginal people needed to do was find a way to protect themselves 
from police threats and intimidation. The opportunity for group action 
came at the end of July when station p~~ople from across the region, 
including about 150 marrngu, converged 0 :0 Port Hedland for the annual 
races, Ordered by the police to camp out of town at the 4 Mile camp. 
marrngu defied the police in a show of strength and walked en masse, 
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during the night of 27 July, to the Two Mile camp:S7 Given the climate of 
intimidation and the persistent threat of violence and prosecution under 
which marrngu lived, their shift to the Two Mile required remarkable 
courage, as John Wilson has argued.s8 Awaiting the arrival of the 
police the following morning marrngu fo'rmulated ways to resist police 
intimidation without violence and successfully stood their ground when 
the police arrived .59 In further demonstrations of strength a few days 
later, they walked into town to demand thf! ration coupons they needed to 
purchase sugar and tea, and a group of men marched to the police station 
to demand the release of McLeod from thf! lockup where they believed he 
was being held. 

An important tactic developed at this time was that of responding to 
police intimidation by crowding around the officer concerned in a non­
violent display of strength of numbers. Authorities found it impossible to 
speak to individuals or small groups without being surrounded by a large 
number of people, and saw this as evidence that strike organisers were 
employing stand-over tactics to prevent others returning to stations.'" 
Such tactics were essential, however, if marrngu were to avoid police 
intimidation. During the course of the strike, marrngu came to view 
imprisonment as a badge of honour in their struggle for better conditions, 
and the use of police intimidation and fear of imprisonment became an 
increasingly ineffective means of control. t>I 

The second thing marmgu needed to do to change the condition of their 
lives was to free themselves from the obligations that attended residence 
on stations and town reserves. Domestic servants employed in Marble 
Bar had been forced out of town to the Moolyella tin field by Constable 
Marshall when they struck on 1 May, on the ground that only those who 
were 'indigent' or employed were permitted to live on the town reserve, 
Their eviction, together with that of all residents from Indee Station, and 
of non-workers and 'trouble makers' from Mundabullangana, provided 
evidence that residence on town reserves and stations was contingent 
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upon compliance with settler authority, Thl! timing of the 1 May strike 
to coincide with a period of high labour demand on stations effectively 
prevented more widespread evictions, although some pastoralists did 
threaten to undertake 'a very severe culling out' of their Aborigina l 
station population when the shearing was over,62 Marrngu pre·empted 
such an action by leaving the stations before any such 'culling out' could 
be achieved, 

Thirdly, marrngu needed to extricate themselves from their complex 
relationship of mutual dependence and obligation with pastoralists, 
Their ability to do so was helped by the fact that they ' felt strongly' the 
pastoralists' refusal to negotiate wage incrE!ases, 'not so much from the 
point of remuneration' according to John Wilson, but because there had 
been 'a widespread refusal', 'They had been "k.nocked·back"', Wilson writes, 
'not merely as individuals but collectively'.6l That they should feel this 
'knock·back' so strongly suggests that, despite the uneven power relations 
on station s, they believed their relationship with pastoralists entitled 
them to be taken seriously in their request for increased wages. In their 
collective refusal to negotiate, pastoralists lost some degree of authority in 
the eyes of their Aboriginal workers. Peter Kolchin notes similar tendencies 
in protests staged by Russian serfs in the early nineteenth century, which 
frequently began with a petition to the serf owner or some other authority. 
Kolchin writes that serfs were usually disappointed with the result of 
their petition, believing that they had 'legitimate grievances that only 
had to be revealed to be remedied'. Following the failure of their petition , 
serfs would refuse to recognise the author ity of their owner or would 
cease working for him,'" Similarly, marrngu accounts of the Pilbara strike 
indicate that foll OWing the 1 May attempt to negotiate wage increases, 
Aboriginal workers rejected the authority of 'even the squatter' by refUSing 
to recognise or listen to them, 'We saw everybody coming', Pitpit said. 
'Policemen, detectives, our bosses. We told them, "where are you from? We 
don't know yoU"',CI 'We're not listening', Pimtilkampanyaja (Mac Gardner) 
recalled, 'Even the squatter, we're not listening, we're going, We're getting 
nothing from you, we're doing a good job for you, no wages ... Welfare, 
policemen, we tell them, squatters. We was that strong'.66 
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Following the strike of 1 May, it seems, neither pastoralists nor 
marrngu were prepared to continue to fulfill their obligations within 
the rationing arrangement, and ' its endu ring but culturally tenuous 
nexus was broken'.6? Only seven of the 150 marrngu who attended the 

Port Hedland race meeting at the end of July returned to their station 
employment when the races ended.6I Instead, they established a camp at 
the Twelve Mile, 20 kilometres from Port Hedland, while Dooley and a 
few others joined those evicted from Marble Bar at Moolyella, where they 
could earn a living mining alluvial t in .69 Over the following months the 
number of strikers grew steadily. Monty Hale's family and other marrngu 
joined Dooley at Moolyella instead of returning to their stations after 
the Marble Bar races in mid-September.1O Other workers left stations 
as opportunity presented itself. According to Kujupurra, 'marrngu left 
Warrawagine Station a few at a time; somE~ left, and then the next week 
somebody else might go. In the end we left it without any Aboriginal 
workers; only a few stayed'.n By November there were 150 strikers at 
Moolyella, with the number increasing each week 'owing to more of the 
station natives going on strike' and 'practica Hy every station' in the Marble 
Bar district was affected 'by the loss of somE! if not all of their natives, over 
the strike'.72 The number of people in the s;trike communities fl uctuated 
during the course of the strike but probably numbered between two and 
four hundred at any given time. Although the strike never succeeded in 
achieVing a complete withdrawal of Aborig:inallabour in the area, Pilbara 
stations were affected by the loss of so many of their workers. 

Striking for better working conditions, or 
seeking independence? 

Pastoralists, the police, and officers of the Native Affairs Department 
initially expected that the strike would be short-lived. Jenny Hardie, 
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who married into a Pilbara pastoralist fa:mily in the 1960s, wrote that 
pastoralists could not understand why ml2rrngu would leave 'their own 
country - their station homes where they were fed and nursed and 

had an easy-going life that appealed to them'.73 They hoped that their 
relationship with Aboriginal workers, together with police pressure, 
cou ld again be used to persuade marrngu that their interests would best 

be served by adherence to the rationing relationship. They appealed 
to marrngu attachment and sense of loyalty to their former station of 
residence.'H Marrngu at the s trike camps c:ame under sustained pressure 

from pastoralists and the police to return to station employment. Caroline 
Jula, who joined the strike camp at MoolYI?lIa from Warrawagine Station, 
recalled the police coming 'every morning' to see Dooley, pressuring 
him to send workers back to the stations. But the strikers were far more 
intransigent than the police expected. 'We say no', J ul a said. 'We're not 

going any more. Strike, strike, we strike, in Moolyella. We got self, we got 
to work living self'.75 

Strikers based at the Twelve Mile formed working parties to under­
take fishing, dryshelling, kangarooing and prospecting activities. By 
September the police reported that 'a more or less permanent camp', 
including some 'quite substantial spinifex sheds' and a small garden. 
had been established.7t Schools run by marrngu teachers were established 

at both camps. New forms of social organisation developed within these 
communities, with traditional social structures being adjusted to meet 
the requirements of large working groups. The Acting Commissioner of 
Native Affairs, Lew McBeath , noted that a 'certain measure of control' 

had 'definitely passed over to ... elderly mlm' who had previously travelled 
'from one station property to another, existing fairly well upon the 

proceeds of gambling, and also from the standing they possess as elders'. 
He believed that this made the situation. in the Pilbara 'more involved', 

as the persistence of the strikers' camps provided these senior men with 
'a certain amount of authority and standing'.H 

For many marrngu, the establishment of independent communities 
away from the paternalistic control of pastoralists seems to have been 
an end in itself. From the early days of the strike, authorities reported 
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that many of the strikers showed little indination to return to stations.78 

Even when wages and conditions on stations began to improve as a result 
of the strike, many continued to show little interest in returning, In 

April 1947 Acting Commissioner McBeath found that people he spoke 

to at Moolyella 'appeared to be quite firm in their resolve not to return 
to the stations even with the assurance that increases in wages and 
better living conditions would be forthcoming',19 The local Native Affairs 

officer, charged with the responsibility of finding a way to end the strike, 
expressed frustration at the refusal of strikers to return to work despite 

the concess ions that had been granted. 'lhe Natives', he complained, 
'refuse to accept work at increased rates, decline to accept the fact that 

better conditions will be provided for them and adopt an attitude of 
defiance'.'lo 

Some marrngu had little reason to return to stations. For senior men 

and women who no longer had a role to play in station culture, the new 

communities offered communal life and positions of respect. While some 
people had close connections to particular stations, others had been more 
itinerant. Travelling between stations to obtain work where they could, 

and fossickingfor tin and gold between jobs, these people had had greater 
autonomy than permanent station residents, but less security. For these 
people, membership of the new communities provided a level of social 

and economic protection. 
Some strikers did, however, continue t o identify the achievement 

of improved wages and conditions as reasons for remaining on strike. 

While some returned to station employment to take advantage of 
increased wages and better conditions prornised by pastoralists, others 
held out for further improvements. Clancy McKenna told a Native 

Affairs officer in April 1947 that 'as they had stuck out for nine months, 
they would continue to stick out, and see what the natives still employed 
on the stations got in the way of better conditions and wages'.lll Some 

strikers who saw their action as a temporary withdrawal of labour 
became frustrated as the strike dragged on, and pushed for more direct 
negotiations to achieve the economic objectives of the strike. 

Tension arose in t he strike camps between those who wanted to return 
to better working conditions on stations, and those who wanted to hold 
ou t for a greater degree of autonomy. In December 1946 a small group of 
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strikers at Moolyella, led by one of the strike leaders, Gordon Mackay, 
formed a breakaway group which attempted to negotiate a return to 

station employment in exchange for improved conditions, including 
'reasonable sleeping quarters, a shade shed in which to have their meals, 
and to layoff in, a shower in which to wash, and the pit system lavatory'.82 
Mackay, one of the few literate strikers, wrote a letter the Australian 

Workers Union (AWU): 

I beg to place before you the position of us natives up here in the 
nor west. We are all struggling to bette'f our conditions both as for 
living & wages conditions we have as perhaps you know, come out 
solidly and still are out & refuse to go back to the conditions we 
are asked to live and work under. Your members come up here and 
work up here under totally different conditions. Have you made 
one effort to ours. You ca n get these bettered conditions for us 
and perhaps organise us a separate branch.'" 

The letter was not sent to the AWU but forwarded instead to the Native 

Affairs Department through Constable Marshall, possibly at Marshall's 
suggestion. The breakaway group was physically prevented from 
returning to station work by McKenna and other strikers, who took them 
to the Twelve Mile to prevent them from undermining the strike's longer­
term objectives." 

Hokari has argued. that securing better wages and conditions on stations 
was never a principal objective of action taken by Gurindji people, and 
that their 'walk-o ff' from Wave Hill Station was accordingly never really 
a strike. McKenna's statement to the police officer and MacKay's letter 

to the AWU indicate that these were major goals for at least some of the 

Pilbara strikers. The establishment of self-supporting communities, 
however, can be seen not only as an end in itself, as it appears to have 
been for many marrngu, but also as an essential component of the strikers' 
attempt to change employment conditio'ns on stations. Writing from a 
global labour history perspective, Marcel van der Unden identifies 'the 

collective exit' as a form of protest undertaken particularly by workers 
who are unable to assert their interests collectively in the workplace, 
such as slaves, indentured labourers. journeymen, and wage earners in 
'total instit utions'like sailors. The distinction between the collective exit 

and the fight for better working conditions is, however, 'in reality rather 
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Figure 1. Gordon Mackay. 
Photography courtesy of John Wilson. 

fluid ', he writes.ss Marrngu had been unable to assert their interests 

collectively by remaining on stations, whi,:h were both workplaces and 

their homes, and they needed to move awa.y to negotiate change. Better 
wages and conditions were key features of the change they sought, but 

" Mucel van der Unden, Workers of rhe World: E~;says Towards a Global LIlEwl'r History 
(leiden and Boston: Brill, 2008), 175, 179. 

121 



History Auscra/ia I Volume 11 I Nurnber 2 I AUguSl 2014 

little real change could be effected without altering the basis on which 
marrngu were employed. They needed to frE~e Aboriginal workers from the 

obligations and controls of the rationing system. 
To change the basis of Aboriginal station employment, marrngu insisted 

that pastoralists only employ Aboriginal workers after first negotjating 
wages and working conditions with the strike leaders. Departmental 

attempts to negotiate an end to the strike consistently broke down over 
the issue of the authority of the strikers to negotiate labour conditions 

as a group, and over the basis on which Aboriginal workers were to be 

employed.- Although pastoralists agreed that wages demanded by 
strikers 'were not unreasonable and that if they were worth employing 
at all they were worth the conditions and wages usually asked for', they 
refused to accept the 'demand of the leaders that no native should be 

allowed to accept employment without their approval'. Payment of 
wages at the level demanded by strikers did not threaten the rationing 

relationship. On the other hand, forpasto:ralists to concede the authority 
of an Aboriginal organisation by allowing it to intercede between 

themselves and Aboriginal workers did threaten to disrupt the system 
of controls that underpinned labour relations. Pastoralists insisted that 
they had 

the right to engage labour as required wherever they could contact 
the natives, either by going to Molyella [sic] or on the roads streets 
or in the bush wherever they might meet them, and that if there 
were any breaches of law and order the matter should be reported 
to the Police for the necessary action.87 

By insisting that Aboriginal workers be employed on an individual basis, 

they hoped to reinstate relationships of personal obligation, and thereby 
to restore control. 

The strike was moderately successful in achieving improvements in 

wages and working conditions on stations, but the goal of reforming the 
basis oflabour relations saw it continue for three years. It ended in 1949 
when an officer of the Native Affairs Depilrtment indicated a willingness 

to negotiate a scale of wages with strikers, but this limited concession 
was negated by departmental and government statements that the officer 
had no authority to do SO.M The strike failed to achieve recognition of 

.. J en.fn to McBf~th . 12 April 1947, SROWA, 19<\.6 / 1416113 -4 ; M(Bf~th to M(Oon~ld . 28 
April 1947. SROWA.19<17/030S/104- 5 

O·NeiIJ. N~ti~ Affaiu Report . 29 Mirch 1949. SROWA. 1943/0621112S. 
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the authority of an Aboriginal group to negotiate labour conditions, and 
failed, as a result, to reform labour relations. 

The Aboriginal movement that had begun with the sit-down strike 
on 1 May 1946 continued after 1949, but: its focus shifted away from 
the objective of improving pastoral labour conditions. While some 
workers returned to station employment, some of those who remained 
away joined McLeod in a prospecting and mining venture. This venture 
attracted increasing numbers of marrngu over the following months, 
including many of those who had returned to station employment, and by 
mid-1952 600 were involved in a cooperative mining company, Northern 
Development and Mining, and pastoralists were again facing severe 
labour shortages," That so many chose to remain away from stations, 
or to leave them again, despite the improved conditions there and the 
harsh conditions of the mining camps, indicates that the establishment 
of an autonomous community had become the principal objective of the 
Pilbara movement by this time. That achij~ving autonomy had been an 
aspiration of marrngu since they began leaving stations following the 
failed sit-down strike of 1 May is indicated by the fact that many saw no 
disconnection between the industrial action of 1946-49 and their later 
involvement in the mining cooperatives, some claiming as late as the 
1980s and 1990s that they were 'still in the strike today'. iI) 

Features of labour relations that li mit worker autonomy ca n in turn 
impose limits on the form of action available to workers to address their 
labour conditions, as this analysis of the Pilbara strike shows. Aboriginal 
labour in the Pilbara was an integral part of a system of colonial control 
that included both intimidation and paternalistic care and protection 
through rationing. To address thei rworking conditions, Aboriginal people 
had to shift away from stations to free themselves from the obligatiOns of 
the rationing relationship. The communitie!; established as a result of the 
decision to leave the stations offered protect ion from intimidation , and a 
level of economic and political independence that appealed to many. They 
also provided the strikers with a position from which to negotiate better 
wages and conditions on stations, and to attempt to change the basis on 
which Aboriginal labour was employed. 

Funk Galf, RtPOTt to (ommittet inwltigating n,ltivt b.bour, 15 Much 1952; Pastor­
allJu' Statements, 5-6 March 1952, SROWA, 1952/0830/115-19. 
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